IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY SPANN,

Appellant,

vs.

APPEAL NO. 00-1498

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831

322059

(863)533-8556+

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of 31 volumes. Volume numbers will be designated using Arabic numerals. Volumes 1-3 contain copies of documents from the court file, and are numbered pages 1 through 534. These volumes will be designated in the brief as "R". Volumes 4 through 31 contain the transcripts of pretrial hearings and the trial, and are numbered pages 1 through 3267. These volumes will be designated in the brief as "T". The Appellant will be referred to as Mr. Spann.

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 16, 1997, the Grand Jury for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Martin County, Florida, returned an Indictment against Appellant, Anthony Spann and Lenard James Philmore, for the offense of First Degree Murder contrary to section 775.04(1)(a), 775.087 and 777.011, Florida Statutes (1997), for the death of Kazue Perron on or about November 14, 1997. (1,R3) Mr. Spann was also indicted for the offenses of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery with a Deadly Weapon contrary to section 812.12(1), 812.13(2), and 777.04, Florida Statutes (1997); Carjacking with a Deadly Weapon contrary to section 812.133(1),812.133(2)(a) and 777.011, Florida Statutes (1997); Kidnapping contrary to section 787.01,775.087, and 777.011, Florida Statutes (1997); Robbery with a Deadly Weapon contrary to section 812.13(2)(a) and 777.011, Florida Statutes (1997); and Grand Theft contrary to section 812.014, Florida Statutes (1987). (1,R3-4)

On January 2, 1998, Mr. Spann moved for a severance of his case from that of his co-defendant, Mr. Philmore. (1,R14-15,42-43) The motion was granted by the trial court on June 23, 1999. (1,R102)

A jury trial commenced on April 11, 2000. (1,R262) A mistrial was declared on April 17, 2000. Volumes 8 through 15 of the record contain the transcripts of the mistrial.

A second jury trial commenced on May 16, 2000, with the

2

Honorable Cynthia Angelos, circuit judge presiding. Volumes 16-

29 of the record contain the transcripts of this trial.

During the course of the trial, the trial court conducted hearings on the admissibility of expert opinion relating to handwriting. (21,T2104;25) Defense counsel requested that the state's handwriting expert be prohibited from testifying as to the causes of the different handwriting in the samples given by Mr. Spann because they had already agreed that the piece of evidence the state sought to admit had been written by Mr. Spann. (21,T2105-2132;24,T2374-76) On May 19, 2000, the trial court conducted a <u>Frye</u> hearing on the parameters of the expert's opinion. (24,T2370-2378)

Testimony at the Frye hearing was received on May 22, 2000. (25,T2545-2582) Lamar Miller testified that he is a handwriting examiner who was employed by the state to examine some letters purportedly sent by Mr. Spann to Philmore at the jail. (25,T2546-57) The question of distortion arose in the context of this examination. According to Miller, a known sample of Mr. Spann's handwriting showed distortion. Distortion is usually the result of some type of impairment or an intentional effort to disguise handwriting. (25,T2563) Defense counsel sought to prohibit Miller from testifying that in his opinion, Mr. Spann intentionally distorted his handwriting in order to disguise it. The trial court ruled that Miller was qualified as an expert. (25,T2583) The trial court found that the evidence of distortion was relevant. The trial

3

court ordered that no mention be made that the samples were obtained pursuant to court order. The trial court also ruled that the expert could testify as to the differences in the handwriting and the possible reasons for it. The trial court ruled that Miller could not specifically render an opinion that the handwriting was intentionally disguised or testify that there was a deliberate intent to deceive on the part of Mr. Spann. (25,T2584-2585)

On May 22, 2000, defense counsel moved for a mistrial based on a violation of the trial court's ruling regarding the testimony of the handwriting examiner. (25,T2539-2545) The trial court denied the motion. (25,T2542)

Mr. Spann waived any jury instructions on lesser included offenses. (28,T2964-68; 29,T3054-3060) On May 24, 2000, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on each count.(1,R303;318-319;29,T3152-3153)

Defense counsel advised the trial court following the verdict that Mr. Spann wanted to waive the presentation of mitigating evidence and waive a jury advisory recommendation. The trial court conducted hearings regarding these matters with Mr. Spann on May 25, 2000 and May 30, 2000. (29,R3161-3179; 30,R3183-3196) On May 30, 2000, the jury was discharged. (30, R3196-3198) A penalty phase without a jury was then conducted. (30, R3198-3222)

A Motion for New Trial was filed on June 5, 2000. (3,R345-346)

The motion was denied on June 13, 2000. (3,R347)

4

The state's sentencing memorandum was filed on May 31, 2000. (1,R320-336) Mr. Spann's sentencing memorandum was filed on June 1, 2000. (1,R337-339)

The trial court conducted a <u>Spencer</u> hearing on June 2, 2000. (31,T3223-3256)

The trial court sentenced Mr. Spann to death on June 23, 2000. (31,T3261-3268) The trial court also sentenced Mr. Spann to 15 years prison on Count VIII, conspiracy to commit robbery with a deadly weapon; life on Count IX, carjacking; life on Count X, kidnapping; life on Count XI, robbery with a deadly weapon; and five years on Count XII, grand theft. (3,R357-372;V31,T3265-3266) The trial court departed upward from the recommended sentence in the sentencing guidelines based upon the unscored capital conviction. (3,R373-377,390;V31,T3265)

The trial court's written sentencing order was contemporaneously filed during the sentencing on June 23, 2000. (3,R378-391) The trial court found that five aggravating factors were established beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence based upon Mr. Spann's 1991 conviction for battery, his 1995 conviction for shooting into an occupied dwelling and his 1999 conviction for manslaughter; (2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the

commission of or flight after the commission of a kidnapping;
(3)

5

the capital felony was committed to avoid or the prevent a lawful arrest or detection of a crime for which the defendant was convicted of; (4) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain; (5) the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (3,R378-385)

The trial court considered and found none of the statutory mitigating factors. (3,R385-386) The trial court also considered non-statutory mitigating evidence. The trial court utilized the record, the Presentence Investigation (PSI), and the non-statutory mitigation proffered by Mr. Spann's counsel. (3, R387)

The trial court found that (1) Mr. Spann was a good son, brother, and student, assigned little weight; (2) Mr. Spann did not fire the shots in the murder, assigned very little weight; (3) Mr. Spann had a good jail record, some weight; (4) Mr. Spann was a good husband and father, slight weight; (5) Mr. Spann's father was killed when Mr. Spann was between 2 and 4 years of age, moderate weight. (3,R388-389)

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed on June 26, 2000. (3,R392) An Amended Notice of Appeal was timely filed on July 11, 2000. (3,R398)

6

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The testimony presented at trial is summarized as follows: Michael Buss is the owner of a pawn shop located in a strip mall in Royal Palm Beach. (22,T2180) On November 13, 1997, around 1:30 in the afternoon, he was robbed by Leonard Philmore and Sophia Hutchins. (22,T2181) Philmore and Hutchins entered the store and pretended that they wanted to look at some jewelry. (22,T2184) Philmore pulled out a gun and pointed it at Mr. Buss' face. (22,T2184) Hutchins locked the door. (22,T2185) Philmore demanded money. He then grabbed Mr. Buss and they wrestled. (22,T2186) Mr. Buss was knocked down. (22,T2187) Philmore came behind him and tried to strangle him with a cord. (22,T2187) The phone rang and Mr. Buss said that it was his alarm. (22,T2187) Philmore grabbed some guns and Hutchins grabbed some jewelry from the safe.(22,T2188) Mr. Buss followed them outside as they fled. (22,T2182) He observed them go towards a dark compact car that was either gray or black or blue. (22,T2182) Neither Philmore or Hutchins got into the driver's seat. (22,T2189) The car drove away. (22,T2189)

Two handguns, a Taurus .380 and a Glock, were stolen from the store. (22,T2182) A small amount of money was also taken. (22,T2189)

Keyontra Cooper was a friend of Leonard Philmore. (22,T2192)

7

She was dating him at the time of this incident. She was arrested with him in an orange grove. (22,T2192) Cooper knew Mr. Spann through Philmore. (22,T2193)

On the evening of November 13, Mr. Spann and Philmore came to Cooper's home and picked her up. (22,T2194) They went to get something to eat, and then went to Sophia Hutchins' house. (22,T2194) While at Hutchins' house, Cooper saw Philmore and Mr. Spann in Philmore's bedroom. (22,T2196) She saw that they had two guns. Philmore had one of the guns and Mr. Spann had the other gun in his hand. Mr. Spann had the Glock, which was smaller than the gun that Philmore had. (22,T2196-7) Mr. Spann and Philmore were talking, but they stopped when Cooper came into the bedroom. (22,T2197)

Cooper, Toya Stevenson, Philmore, and Mr. Spann left Hutchin's house and went to the Inns of America hotel, where they spent the night. (22,T2197) They used Mr. Spann's blue Subaru for transportation. (22,T2198) Mr. Spann drove the car because it had a standard transmission, and Philmore could not drive a stick shift. (22,T2199) Mr. Spann and Philmore both had guns. (22,T2200)

The next morning, Cooper received a page on her beeper from a friend, Ann Marie Border. (22,T2201) Ann Marie told her that the police were looking for Philmore. (22,T2201) Philmore told Mr. Spann that the police were trying to find him. Philmore said he

was broke and needed some money to leave town. (22,T2202,2210)

8

According to Cooper, Mr. Spann said to Philmore "You know what we got to do." (22,T2202;2210) There was some discussion about leaving town and Philmore asked Cooper if she would go with him. (22,T2203) Cooper agreed go. (22,T2203) Cooper and Toya were taken home so that they could get ready to go. Philmore and Mr. Spann left. (22,T2203)

Cooper testified that she did not hear any discussions between Philmore and Mr. Spann about robbing or killing anyone. (22,T2210)

By November 1997, Toya Stevenson had known Mr. Spann for six or seven months. (23,T2342) On November 13, 1997, she spent the night with Mr. Spann, Philmore and Cooper at a local motel. (23,T2343) The next morning, Toya asked Mr. Spann for a ride back to Rockledge, where she lived. (23,T2346) Mr. Spann dropped Toya off at her aunt's house around noon. (23,T2346) Philmore and Cooper were in the car when Toya was dropped off. (23,T2346)

Toya was going to pack her things. Mr. Spann was going to pick her up later to leave. (23,T2347) Somewhere between 2:30 and 3:00, Philmore and Mr. Spann arrived in a gold Lexus. (23,T2347) Mr. Spann was driving. Toya got into the front seat. (23,T2348)

Cooper was picked up at a Burger King.(23, T2343) Cooper testified that she was picked up by a gold Lexus being driven by Mr. Spann. (24,T2384) They then went to Sophia's house. (23, T2349)

When Toya asked about the car, Mr. Spann told her not to worry

about it. (23,T2350) Toya saw a magazine with a mailing label on

9

it in the car. (23,T2350) The name on the mailing label was

"Kazue Perron". (23,T2350)

Cooper testified that she asked where the car came from. (24,T2386) Mr. Spann told her not to worry about it; we got it. (24,T2386) When Cooper pressed the issue, Philmore pointed at the keys. (24,T2387) This meant to Cooper that they had either bought the car or stolen it. (24,T2387)

While they were near Sophia's house a chase started. The chase eventually led to I95. (23,T2349;2351;24,T2388) When a tire on the Lexus blew out, they all ended up running through an orange grove. (23,T2352;24,T2390) Stevenson was eventually captured by the police in the grove. (23,T2352)

On November 14, 1997, Officer Willie Smith was working undercover for the West Palm Beach Police Department posing as a street level drug dealer. (24,T2396) At around 3:15 p.m., he saw Mr. Spann driving a gold Lexus. (24,T2397) Officer Smith knew that Mr. Spann had an outstanding warrant, so he signaled the surveillance officers that he had spotted Mr. Spann. (24,T2398) Smith saw Mr. Spann being pursued by the surveillance vehicles. (24,T2398)

Officer Jeffery Nathan began the pursuit. (24,T2400) After following the Lexus through a residential neighborhood, the chase reached I95. (24,T2404) On I95, the speeds were between 100 and

130 mph. (24,T2405) Nathan could not keep up with the Lexus and

lost them at Palm Beach Gardens. (24,T2407) A tape of Nathan's radio communications was played to the jury. (24,T2409-2411)

Edward Merten was traveling down I95 about 3:30 p.m. on November 14. (24,T2414) He was traveling about 100 mph on his motorcycle, when a gold Lexus went by him and almost hit him. (24,T2415) Merten was mad, so he chased the car. (24,T2417) The Lexus went off the road just at the Martin County line. (24,T2417) Merten saw four people jump out of the Lexus and run in to the orange groves. (24,T2418)

Mr. Merten called the police on his cell phone. (24,T2419) A tape of Merten's 911 call was played to the jury. (24,T2420-2429)

John Scarborough testified he is the owner of a grove bordering I95 in Martin county. (24,T2430) On November 14, he and his hired hand, Lucas Young, were trapping hogs in the grove when he saw some people come into the grove from the road. (24,T2432) Scarborough

and Young approached the black men to see what was going on. (24,T2433) Scarborough described one of the people as a tall, large man wearing a bunch of gold jewelry on his neck. (24,T2433) The other man was smaller and had gold teeth. (24,T2433) Both men were out of breath from running. (24,T2433) Mr. Scarborough identified Mr. Spann as the man with gold teeth.

10

(24,T2434)

The men said that they were being chased by the police for speeding. (24,T2435) When Mr. Scarborough questioned that, the men

11

said that they were being chased for drugs. (24,T2435) About this time two black women came over the creek. The sound of a helicopter was audible. (24,T2436)

Mr. Spann offered to pay Mr. Scarborough to get him out of the grove. (24,T2436) Scaraborough refused. (24,T2436) The black men then moved around the truck to the opposite side from the approaching helicopter. (24,T2436) Young saw two guns in Philmore's pants. He told Scarborough he had seen them. (24,T2437) Scarborough told the men to hide in the creek brush and that he would leave. (24,T2438) When they ran off, he eased out. (24,T2438) Scarborough then called 911 on his cell phone. (24,T2438)

Scarborough met with the troopers up by the road and tried to assist them in their search of the groves. (24,T2439) The search involved a bunch of dog teams and lasted all night. (24,T2439)

On Monday, Scarborough borrowed some metal detectors from a friend and used them in the ditches in the grove. (24,T2445) A pistol was found in about 12 inches of water.(24,T2446) A Motorola beeper was also found. (24,T2446) Officer John Wright went to the grove and recovered the gun and beeper. (24,T2467) A further search of the same body of water yielded a second gun. (24,T2468)

Lieutenant John Wardle was in charge of the tracking investigation in the grove. (24,T2448) The manhunt lasted six hours and resulted in the arrest of Philmore, Mr. Spann, Cooper and

12

Stevenson. (24,T2445) Money in the amount of \$464.12 and jewelry

was recovered from Philmore. (24,T2460) Money in the amount of \$545.00 was found on Mr. Spann. (24, T2464)

Detective John Cummings interviewed Mr. Spann. (24,T2460) Mr. Spann said his name was James Anderson. (24,T2460) After being arrested, Mr. Spann was interviewed at the jail. (27,T2816) A tape of that interview was played to the jury. (27,T2816-2842) That interview is summarized as follows:

Mr. Spann stated that he had spent the previous night in a motel with Cooper and Stevenson. (27,T2818) After the girls were dropped off the next day, he and Philmore went to Sophia's house on Third Street. (27,T2818) Mr. Spann did not stay there long. He then went to his aunt's house on Adams street. (27,T2819) Mr. Spann drove his Subaru there. (27,T2819) Mr. Spann estimated he got there between noon and 1:00 p.m. (27,T2819)

About an hour or two later, Philmore came to Adams Street driving a white Lexus. (27,T2820;2830) Mr. Spann asked how Philmore got the Lexus. Philmore did not give an explanation but did mention trading some dope. (27,T2820;2828) He and Philmore left to go pick up Stevenson and Cooper. (27,T2820) When the four of them were going to Sophia's house, they saw a van with police in it. (27,T2821) Mr. Philmore was driving. At this point the chase occurred. (27,T2822) Mr. Spann took off because he knew he had an outstanding warrant and so did Philmore. (27,T2833)

13

Mr. Spann stated that he had nothing to do with the carjacking

and that he had never seen Mrs. Perron. (27,T2822) Mr. Spann stated that Philmore can drive the Subaru. (27,T2825) Mr. Spann did not know how the Subaru ended up in Indiantown. (27,T2826) He let everyone drive it. (27,T2826) He thought Sophia might have taken it, because she had asked for the keys and he had given them to her. (27,T2832;2835)

The Lexus was tested for the presence of blood. (24,T2473) Suspected blood was found on the left front seat, the back of the driver's seat, and on the passenger door control panel. (24,T2475)

Jean Claude Perron lives in West Palm Beach. (22,T2213) He was married to the victim, Kazue Perron. (22,T2214) On November 14, 1997, he as Mrs. Perron went to the Lexus dealership to have her car serviced. They then returned home and had lunch together. (22,T2216) After lunch, Mrs. Perron left to pick up an elderly Japanese friend, who lived on Elizabeth Street in the Square Lake development, and another person. She was going to take them to a mall. (22,T2217) Mrs. Perron left around 1:00 p.m. in her gold Lexus. (22,T2219) Mrs. Perron did not return home. (22,T2220) Mrs. Perron's body was eventually discovered in Martin County. (22,T2224) Mrs. Perron's wedding ring was missing . (22,T2224)

Martha Solis was employed as a housekeeper in the Square Lake development in Palm Beach County. (22,T2226) Solis was working on

November 14, 1997. (22,T2227) In the afternoon, she left to pick

14

up lunch for the lady she worked for and herself. (22,T2227) Solis left around 1:00. (22,T2227) As she was traveling down Elizabeth Street, Solis saw an old blue car in the driveway of a house. (22,T2229) The driver of the car was a slim, black man. He was not real dark. (22,T2230) Solis saw another man running, who was really black. (22,T2230) The man who was were running was big, and wore a big, gold chain. (22,T2231) The man was running from a red house. (22,T2231) When Solis was about halfway down Elizabeth Street, the older, blue car pulled out in front of her. (22,T2231) She saw a Lexus behind her, but did not see who was driving it. (22,T2231) She saw a white or yellow woman in the Lexus. She had short, dark hair, and was wearing shorts. (22,T2231) The Lexus kept honking the horn. (22,T2233)

Detective Richard Carl showed pictures of Mr. Spann and Philmore to Carol Majerczak, a security guard at Lake Park. (278,T2875) Majercazk was also shown the photographs of Sophia, Stevenson, and Cooper. She was unable to identify them as being in the neighborhood at the time Mrs. Perron was kidnapped. (28,T2876) She saw two black males in a gold Lexus. (28,T2879) She saw a blue-gray Subaru right behind the Lexus. (28,T2879) She thought she saw two black females in the Subaru. (,T2880)

The body of Kazue Perron was discovered off New Caulkins Road in Martin County on November 21, 1997. (24,T2480) Caulkins Road

runs from Palm Beach through Indiantown and into Okeechobee.

15

(24,T2481) The body was found in a drainage canal in a remote, isolated, agricultural area. (24,T2482-85)

Dr. Frederick Hobin performed the autopsy on Mrs. Perron.

(25,T26114-2620;2634-35) The body was quite decomposed. Mrs. Perron was identfied by her clothing and dental records. (25,T2614) Mrs. Perron died of a gunshot wound to the forehead. (25,T2618;27,T2801)

A .380 shell casing was found at the edge of the canal. (24,T2485-2488) There appeared to be blood on the roadway. (24,T2490) A projectile was found embedded in the road. (24,T2494)

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