IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 00-1498

ANTHONY SPANN,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

Tallahassee, Florida

Melanie A. Dale

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0168556 1515 N. Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, Fl. 33401 Phone: 561-837-5000 Fax: 561-837-5099

Counsel for Appellee

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

Appellant argues that the trial court's finding that Appellant freely and voluntarily made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the advisory jury is not supported by the record (IB at 54). Appellant also claims that the colloquy conducted by the trial court was inadequate and incomplete because Appellant's participation was limited to affirmations and he was not told that the trial court could reject his waiver (IB 54-59). As his last point, Appellant asserts that the trial court erred by not exercising it's discretion and requiring an This claim is meritless as the record advisory jury. reflects that Appellant freely and voluntarily waived the advisory jury and the trial court's colloquy was proper. The

²While the state recognizes this court's decision in <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 2001) (requiring preparation of a PSI in every case where the defendant is not challenging the imposition of the death penalty or refuses to present mitigating evidence), this decision is not applicable to Spann because he was sentenced prior to the date the opinion was issued, it is notable that the trial court's decision to order the preparation of a PSI in this case is consistent with this court's decision in <u>Muhammad</u>. <u>See Also Overton v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S592 (Fla. September 13, 2001).

trial court did not abuse it's discretion by failing to inform the Appellant that it did not have to accept his waiver because, implicit in the fact that Appellant has to ask to waive the advisory jury is that the trial court may reject his waiver.

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. State v. Carr, 336 So. 2d 358 (Fla.1976). Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). The abuse of discretion standard is one of the most difficult for an appellant to satisfy. Ford v. Ford, 700 So. 2d 191, 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. Trease v. <u>State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing <u>Huff v.</u> State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

With respect to Appellants waiver of the advisory sentence,

the record must affirmatively show that he voluntarily and intelligently waived the right to have a sentencing jury render its opinion on the appropriateness of the death penalty. Lamadline v. State, 303 So. 2d 17, 20(Fla. 1974) See Also Carr, 336 So. 2d at 359 (Fla.1976)(where defendant entered a written waiver which the trial judge found was freely, intelligently, and voluntarily made). The trial judge, upon a finding of a voluntary and intelligent waiver, may in his or her discretion either require an advisory jury recommendation, or may proceed to sentence the defendant without such advisory jury recommendation. Carr at 359; See also Palmes v. State, 397 So. 2d 648, 656 (Fla.1981), Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1991), <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 343, 361(Fla. 2001).³

In the instant case, at the hearing held on May 25, 2000, defense counsel Little informed the trial court that Appellant did not want a jury recommendation for his sentence, he wanted

³Appellant cites to <u>State v. Arthur</u>, 374 S.E.2d 291 (S.C. 1988), to illustrate the principle that the acceptance of a jury waiver must be based on a written record and that this can be accomplished only through a searching interrogation of the accused. However the decision in <u>Arthur</u>, was modified by <u>State v. Orr</u>, 403 S.E.2d 623 (S.C. 1991), holding that the waiver may be established by a colloquy between the court and the accused or between the court and defense counsel or both. Moreover, <u>Arthur</u> is inapplicable to the instant case because the trial court in <u>Arthur</u>, 374 S.E.2d at 293. Hence, Appellant's reliance on <u>Arthur</u> is misplaced.

the judge to sentence him (T. Vol. 30 p. 3173). Little told the court that he had encouraged Appellant to seek and advisory verdict (T. Vol. 30 p. 3174).

The following colloquy occurred between the court and Spann:

THE COURT: Mr. Spann, what is your level of education, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Ninth grade

THE COURT: How old are you , please?

THE DEFENDANT: Twenty-six.

THE COURT: Do you understand what is going on?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And, Mr. Little indicated that this is something you've thought about and talked to him about; is that correct, please?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Ma'am.

THE COURT: Sir, do you understand that the jury advisory sentence to be imposed is entitled by law and will be given great weight by this court in deciding what sentence to impose?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: It is only under the rarest of circumstances that the Court would impose a sentence other than that which the jury recommended. Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And I think what is key is that if the jury recommends life, then I must be-I must give that recommendation great weight. And again, only under the rarest of circumstances could I impose a sentence other than a life sentence. Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And, sir, I have no idea what sentence this court would impose with regards to the penalty. I haven't heard any of the aggravating factors that are going to be argued. I haven't weighed them as required by law. But, again, if the jury were to recommend a life sentence, despite what I thought the law would require, the life sentence in all likelihood is that which would be imposed. Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Again, as you and I previously discussed, I'm sure you are disappointed with the verdict, and I don't want that to be the motivator for you to not ask for a jury advisory opinion in this case. I'm going to ask you about this again, but I want you to think about the fact that you don't know what a jury's going to do. Α jury very well may make а life recommendation in this case. And, only if by clear and convincing evidence, reasonable men couldn't differ, only with that standard could I not qo with what the jury's recommended. Do you understand please?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes I do.

THE COURT: Given that, and knowing what the status of the law is and what we've discussed, are you telling me that you wish to waive your right to a jury recommendation in this case, please?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Have you had the opportunity to fully discuss this with your counsel?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: And with regards to both the mitigating evidence and the jury recommendation, are there any questions that you have of your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Or of the Court?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: And you've had sufficient time to full discuss both these issues with Mr. Little; is that correct, please?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am

THE COURT: Did you wish to be heard counsel?

MR. BAKKEDAHL: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: The Court finds the Defendant has given a free and voluntary waiver with regards to the -- an intelligent waiver with regards to the presentation of mitigating evidence, as well as to his right to a jury advisory recommendation with regards to a sentence.

(T. Vol. 30 pp. 3174-3177).

At the status hearing held on May 30, 2000, the judge again informed Appellant that the court would place great weight on the advisory recommendation and only under the rarest of circumstances would she impose a sentence other that which is recommended (T. Vol. 30 p. 3185). Appellant said that he still wished to waive the advisory jury verdict (T. Vol. 30 p. 3185). The Appellant signed a written waiver of the advisory jury verdict in court on May 30, 2000 (T. Vol. 30 p. 3194, Penalty Phase Exhibit 1).⁴

The record affirmatively shows that the colloquy thoroughly established Spann's knowing and voluntary waiver of the advisory jury. The record reflects that the trial court did not simply acquiesce to Spann's request rather the judge explained the role of the advisory jury and warned Spann against making this decision because he was disappointed with the guilt phase verdict. Spann was told that the trial court was still going to conduct the penalty phase with or without the jury. Spann told the judge he understood the law and still wished to waive the advisory jury. Hence, it is apparent from the record that there was a valid waiver of the advisory jury. Acceptance of a valid waiver of the advisory jury is reasonable and is not an abuse of discretion.

Moreover, Appellant's claim that the trial court abused it's discretion by failing to tell him that a judge does not have to accept his waiver is without merit, as it is implicit in the fact that Appellant has to ask to waive the jury, that it is

⁴ See Amended Order Supplementing the Record Dated January 22, 2002.

discretionary to the trial court. In essence what Spann argues is that he should have been told that the trial court had the discretion to reject his waiver, and absent that knowledge, his waiver cannot be deemed to be knowing and voluntary. Spann has not explained how the trial court's discretion to reject the waiver affected his decision to waive the advisory jury, he simply states that the record reflects that after Spann had made a valid waiver on May 25, the trial court had the jury return on May 30 in case Spann changed his mind, not in case the trial court decided to exercise it's discretion and require the advisory jury. This claim is wholly unsupported by the facts in this case, rather it is apparent from the colloquy that the trial court exercised her discretion and found that Spann validly waived the advisory jury. A trial judge has the inherent authority to control her courtroom and implicit with all court requests is the fact that they may be denied. Hence, the trial court did not abuse it's discretion by failing to inform Spann that she could deny his request to waive the advisory jury.

Finally, Appellant's claim that the trial court erred by not exercising it's discretion and requiring an advisory jury is without merit because a defendant having waived the advisory jury cannot complain after the fact about the failure of the

trial court to exercise its discretion and impanel a jury for the judge's benefit because Spann received that which he requested, a sentencing determination by the trial judge without the advisory recommendation of a jury. <u>Holmes v. State</u>, 374 So. 2d 944, 949 (Fla.1979).

There was no abuse of discretion in the instant case as reasonable men could not differ as to the propriety of the trial court's ruling. Hence, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR EXISTS IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

Appellant claims that the trial court committed reversible error by considering his misdemeanor conviction for battery as an aggravating factor. He seeks a new penalty phase. This claims is meritless. In the sentencing order, the judge found that Appellant was convicted of battery on November 26, 1991, he was convicted of shooting into an occupied vehicle on August 10, 1995, and he was convicted of manslaughter with a firearm on October 1, 1999 (T. Vol. 3 p. 379). Hence, the requested relief should be denied and the death sentence should be affirmed

because the record supports the trial court's finding of the prior violent felony aggravator.

Whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding reviewed under the competent, substantial evidence test. When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in <u>Alston v. State</u>, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt-that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," quoting <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 522 U.S. 970 (1997).

On November 26, 1991, Appellant was convicted of Escape from a Juvenile Detention Center, Section 944.40, which is a felony, and Battery under Section 784.03 which is a misdemeanor (T. Vol. 2 p. 323, Exhibit # 3792). Robert Sharpe testified that he was a group treatment leader at the Orange House, the facility Appellant escaped From (T. Vol. 30 p. 3200). Sharpe testified that on May 23, 1991, Appellant punched him in the mouth, causing him a busted lip, Appellant then fled the facility (T.

Vol. 30 p. 3203). In it's sentencing memorandum the State argued that the escape from the facility involved the use of violence to another (T. Vol. 2 p. 323). Hence, the record reflects that the misdemeanor battery was the underlying violence of Appellants felony conviction for escape, therefore, the prior violent felony aggravator was proven.

However, should this court find that the trial court's reference to Appellant's battery conviction was error, any error was harmless in light of the two additional prior violent felonies that exist in Appellant's criminal history. <u>Marshall</u> <u>v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 799, 805 (Fla. 1992).

In a direct appeal or collateral proceeding, the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. Florida Statute §924.051(7). The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." <u>Id</u>.

The test must be conscientiously applied and the reasoning of the court set forth for the guidance of all concerned and for the benefit of further appellate review. The

test is not sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence. <u>Id</u>.

In the instant case, the trial judge found that the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. In the sentencing order, the judge found that Appellant was convicted of battery on November 26, 1991, he was convicted of shooting into an occupied vehicle on August 10, 1995, and he was convicted of manslaughter with a firearm on October 1, 1999 (T. Vol. 3 p. 379). Even if it was error to consider the battery conviction, any error was harmless because two additional violent felonies still exist. See Mahn v. State, 714 So. 2d 391(Fla. 1998)(erroneous use of prior robbery conviction as a prior violent felony conviction aggravator was harmless as defendant's contemporaneous convictions for two homicides satisfied the aggravating circumstance); Franqui v. State, 699 2d 1312 (Fla. 1997)(attempted murder convictions were So. reversed, hence the trial court's reliance upon them in finding the existence of this aggravator was error, however, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial court also found that Franqui had been previously convicted of the

crimes of aggravated assault and attempted armed robbery).

Hence, there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence because two additional prior violent felonies existed for the court to consider. The sentence should be affirmed.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THE FELONY MURDER(Kidnapping), PECUNIARY GAIN, AND AVOID ARREST AGGRAVATORS DID NOT CONSTITUTE IMPROPER DOUBLING.

Appellant argues that the trial court committed reversible error in considering as separate the aggravating factors of felony murder (kidnapping), pecuniary gain, and avoid arrest because these aggravators refer to the same aspect of the crime (IB 65-67).

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